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Plaintift, through his attorneys, states as lollows for his complaint:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to the First, Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments lo
the U.S. Constitution and 42 U.5.C. §§ 1983, 1985, 1986 and 1988. Thiy Court has
jurisdiction over the claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, and 28 7. 5.C. § 2201.

2. The acts which form the basis of plaintiff's cause of action occurred within Genesee County,
Michigan. Venue is properly laid in the Eastern District of Michigan, Southem Division,
pursuant to 28 U.5.C. § 1391(b) and Local Rule 83.10.

PARTIES

3. Plaintiff’ Joseph Raymond Hanas (“Hanas™) resides in the City of Grand Blanc, Genesee
County, Michigan.

4, Defendant Inner City Chrigtian Qutreach Center, Inc. {“Christian Outreach™), is a Michigan
non-profit corporation with offices located m the City of Flint, Genesce County, Michigan.
Upon information and belief, Christian Outreach is operated by the Pentecostal Church.

5. Defendant Dwight R. Rottiers (“Rottiers™) is and was at all material times the Pastor of Inner
City Christian Outrcach Center, Inc., and he resides in Genesee County, Michigan.

0. Defendant Stanette J. Amy (“Amy™) was at all material times employed by the County of
(Genesee as a case manager in the Genesee County Circuit Court Drug Court program.
Detendant Stanette J. Amy resides m the City of Burlon, Genesee County, Michigan,

7. Upon information and belief, defendant Reginald Coleman (“Coleman™) was at all material
times a volunteer case worker associated wilh the Genesee County Drug Court. Upon

information and belief Coleman resides in Genesce County.
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

On or about March 25, 2002, Plainiift Hanas pleaded guilly to the charge of possession of

marijuana with intent to deliver in the Genesee County Circuit Court. Hanas was placed in

the Drug Court program, under which the charges against him could be dismissed 1" he
successfully completed a supervised twelve {o eightcen month rehabilitation program.

9. Defendant Amy, at all material times an employee of the Drug Court, was assigned as the
plaintiff’s case manager.

10.  Upon information and belief, defendant Coleman also was assigned responsibilities in
connection with the plaintiff’s participation in the Drug Court Program.

11.  OnJanuary 24, 2003, based on the recommendation of defendunt Amy, Hanas was assigned
by the Drug Court to a residential program operated by Christian Qutrcach under the
supervision of defendant Rotticrs.

12. Defendant Amy told Hanas that, “the rules of Pastor Rottiers” program are the rules of the
Court.” She also stated that, “[w]e made a deal with Pastor Rotticrs. Ile’s a pariner in the
Drug Court.”

13. Upon information and belief, Amy was aware that Christian Qutreach was a pervasively
rcligious residential program. Upon information and belief, Coleman also was aware that
Christian Qutreach was a pervasively rcligious residential program.

14.  The Drug Court Judge, defendant Amy, defendant Coleman and defendant Rottiers all told

Hanas and Hanas® family members that successful completion of the Christian Outreach

residential program was a condition for dismissal of the felony charges against him.

15. Plaintiff Hanas was raised in the Roman Catholic faith.
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While [Tanas was enrolled in the Christian Outreach residential program, Christian Qutreach

staff told Hanas that Catholicizm is a form of “witcheraft.”

17.  Christian Outreach and Rottiers confiscated a rosary and a Holy Communion praver book
that Hanas’ mother had given him.

18.  Christian Qutreach and Rottiers prohibited Hanas from seeing his priest and a deacon from
hig Church, despite his requests to do so.

19.  Roitiers told a relative who contacted Christian Quireach to try to arrange for a visit by
Hanas’ ¢hurch deacon that Hanas had given ap his right of freedom of religion when he was
placed into the Christian Outreach program.

20.  During his stay at Christian Outreach, Hanas was systematically indoctrinated into the

Pentecostal faith,

21.  While at Christian Outreach, Hanas was required to study the Bible for several hours a day
on average.
22, While at Christian Outreach, Hanas was required io attend regular Pentecostal religious

services. Ile was tested on Peniecostal religious principles.

23,  Christian Qutreach staff, under Rolliers’ supervision, punished Hanas for a rule infraction by
forcing him to remain silent and read the Bible continuously for three days.

24, While at Christian Qutreach, Hanas was informed by Rottiers and others that he would not
successfully complete the Christian Outreach program unless he converted 1o the Pentecostal
faith.

25, Defendant Rottiers and other Christian Outreach staff told Hanas and his mother that he

could not talk to his attorney whilc at the program, and they attempted to prevent Hanas from
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consulting with his attorney.

26, Defendant Amy attempted to dissuade and deter Hanas and Hanas® mother from obtaining
legal counsel to assist in extricating Hanas from the Christian Outreach program.

27. Upon information and belief, Defendant Coleman also attempted to dissuade and deter [1anas
and Hanas® mother from obtaining lcgal counsel to assist in extricating Hanas from the
Christian Outrcach program.

28.  During the time Hanas was assigned to Christian Quireach, Hanas’ mother and other
relalives and his attorncy contacted defendant Amy repeatedly to complain about the
conditions and the coercive religious environment at Christian OQutreach, and to ask for
assistance in having Hanas removed from Christian Outreach and reassigned to a secular
program. Amy rebulfed the complaints and requests for assistance. Upon information and
belief, Amy took no action in response 1o the pleas.

29.  During the time Hanas was assigned to Christian Outreach, Hanas’ mother and his attorney
contacted defendant Coleman to complain about the conditions and the cocrcive religious
cnvironment at Christian Qutreach, and to ask for assistance in having Hanas removed from
Christian Outreach and reassigned to a secular program. Coleman rebufled the complaints
and requests for assistance. Upon information and belief, Coleman took no action in
response to the pleas.

30, On or about February 27, 2003, Hanas returned to the Drug Court with his attorneys and
asked to be removed from Christian Outreach and placed in a secular program. Plaintift’s
attorneys informed the Drug Court that Christian Outreach had demeaned the Roman

Catholic religion, prohitated plaintifl from practicing his religion, and had attempted to



Case 2:06-cv-10290-AJT-MKM  Document 1  Filed 01/23/2006 Page 6 of 14

convert plaintiff to the Penlecostal faith. Plaintiff’s attorneys complained that there were no

drug or alcohol counselors on staff at Chrisbian Qutreach, and that plaintiff had been

prohibited from attending Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) meetings or any other treatment
program. Plaintifl"s attorneys filed affidavits from witncsses and brought witnesses to court,
and implored the Drug Court to transfer plaintiff to a sccular rehabilitation program, or at
least permit plaintiff to practice his faith while assigned to Christian Qutreach,

31, Defendant Amy was prescnt at and participated in the FFebruary 27, 200 hearing.

32.  Based in part on Amy’'s recommendation, the Drug Court denied Hanas’ request to be
reassigned to a secular program, and instead deeided to remove Hanas from the Drug Court
program and sentence him as a criminal defendant.

33, On March 13, 2003, Hanas was scntenced to six months in jail and prebation for a termi of
four years, over his attommeys’ strenuous objections that he was being punished solely for
asserting his right to practice his religtous faith. The courl later denied ITanas” motion for
reinstatement into the Drug Court program and refused to set aside the conviction, Hanas’
petitions for review in the Michigan Court of Appeals and in the Michigan Supreme Court
were denied, as was his Pelition for Writ of Certiorani in the U.S. Supreme Court. On
December 6, 2005, plaintiff filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the U. 8. District

Court for the Eastern District of Michigan.
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CAUSES OF ACTION:

COUNT1

DEPRIVATION OF FREE EXERCISE AND ASSOCIATION RIGHTS, AND
VIOLATION OF ESTABLISHMENT CLAUSE, UNDER FIRST AND FOURTEENTH
AMENDMENTS AND 42 U.S.C, § 1983

34,  Plaintiff incorporates by reference all prior paragraphs as though repeated herein.
35, Defendants, acting jointly and separatcly under color of state law, violated plaintiff’s clearly
established rights under the Tree Exercise and Establishment Clauses of the First and

' Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, by prohibiting plaintiff from practicing the

. teligious faith of his choice, and by coercing the plaintiff into participating in religions
activitics under the threat of criminal punishment. Defendants further violated plaintiff’s
clearly established right to associate with others of his religious faith under the Tirst and
Fourteenth Amendments to the U.5. Constitution, by prohibiting plaintiff from meeting and
communicating with his religious pecrs and leaders.

34. Defendants Christian Qutreach, Roltiers and Coleman acted in concert with, and as partners,
agents and instrumentalities of, the government and under color of state law in violating
plaintiff’s constitutional rights.

37. As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing violations by all of the defendants of
plaintiff’s rights, plaintiff has suffered and will continue (o suffer substantial damages,

including but not limited to pain apd suffering, mental anguwish and emotional distress,

embarrassment and humiliation, and loss of employment opportunities.




Case 2:06-cv-10290-AJT-MKM  Document 1  Filed 01/23/2006 Page 8 of 14

COUNT 1L

RELIGIOUS DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION
UNDER 42 U.S.C, § 1983

38. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all prior paragraphs as though repeated herein.

39.  Defendants, acling jointly and separately under color of state law, violated plaintiff's clearly
established right to equal protection under the law and his right to be free from
discrimination on the basis ol his religious beliefs under the Fourleenth Amendments to the
U.5. Constitution.

40,  Defendants Christian Qutreach , Rottiers and Coleman acted in concert with, and as partners,
agents and instrumentalities of, the government and under color of state law in violating
plaintiff’s right to equal protection under the law.

41.  As a direct and proximate resull of the foregong violations by alt of the defendants of
plaintiff’s rights, plaintiff has suffered and will continue to suffer substantial damages,
including but not limited to pain and suffering, mental anguish and emotional distress,
embarrassment and humiliation, and loss of employment opportunities.

COUNT 111

VIOLATION OF PLAINTIFF'S RIGHT
TO SEEK THE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

42, Plaintiff incorporates by reference all prior paragraphs as though repeated herein.
43,  Defendants, acting jointly and separately under color of state law, sought to dissuade and
deter plaintiff Hanas from obtaining and communicaling with an atlorney Lo assist him in

obtaining reassignment from the Christian Outreach program.
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Defendants, acting jointly and separately under color of state law, also sought to dissuade and

deter Hanas’ mother from obtaiming and communicating with an attorney to assist Ilanas in

obtaining reassignment from the Christian Quireach program.

45.  Defendant Rotliers threatcned Hanas that if he obtmined the assistance of an attorney he
would be sentenced to prison.

46.  Defendant Amy told Hanas® mother that she should not retain an atlorney to help Hanas and
that Hanas did not need an attorney since Amy herself was an attomey.

47. By the foregoing actions, defendants jointly and separately violated, infer alia: plaintiff’s
right under the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution to seck the assistance of legal
counsel; plaintiff’s right under the First Amendment and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S
Constitution to associate and communicate with his legal counsel; and plaintiff’s right to due
process of law under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.

48.  As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing violations by all of the defendants of
plaintiff's rights as set forth above, plaintiff’ has suffered and will continue to suffer
substantial damages, including but not limited to pain and suffering, mental anguish and
emotional distress, embarrassment and humiliation, and loss of employment opportunities.

COUNT 1V

CONSPIRACY IN VIOLATION OF 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3)

49, Plaintiff incotporates by reference all prior paragraphs as though repeated herein.
50.  Acting jointly, defendants engaged and participated in, and acted in furtherance of, a

conspitacy, the predominate purposes of which were: (a) to deprive plaintiff Hanas of his

rights under the Free Excrcisc and Establishment Clauses of the First and Fourteenth
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Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, to be free of coercive interference with the practice his
religious faith; (b) to deprive Hanas of equal protection of the laws and to discriminate
apainst Hanas on the basis of his religious beliefs, and (c) to deprive Hanas of his right to
obtain the assistance of, and associale and communicate with, legal counsel, in violation of
the First, Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.8. Constitution, all in violation of
42 U.8.C. § 1985(3).
As a direct and proximate result of actions taken by the defendants in furtherance of the
foregoing conspiracy o deprive plaintiff of his rights, plaintifl has suffcred and will continue
to suffer substantial damages, including but not limited to pain and suffering, mental anguish
and emotional distress, cmbarrassment and humiliation and loss of employment
opportunities.
COUNT V

VIOLATION BY DEFENDANT AMY OF 42 U.S.C. § 1986
Plaintiff incorporates by reference all prior paragraphs as though repeated herein.
Defendant Amy had actual knowledge of the violations of plaintiff's rights and of the
conspiracy to commit the violations of plaintif”s rights sct forth in the above Counts; further,
Amy had the power and the opportunity to prevent the violation of plaintiff’s rights and she
failed to do so.
As a direct and proximate result of the forcpoing action or inaction of defendant Amy,
plaintiff has suffered and will continuc to suffer substantial damages, including but not
limited to pain and suffering, mental anguish and emotional distress, embarrassment and

humiliation, and loss of employment opportunities.
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RELIEF REQUESTED

Plaintiff requests that this Court grant the following relief:

Issue a declaratory judgment pursuant to 28 11.8.C. § 2201 to the cffect that: (a) defendants
violated plaintiff”s rights under the Free Exercise and Establishment Clauses of the First and
Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution, by prohibiting plaintiff from practicing the
religious faith of his choice, and by coercing plainti[Tinto participating in religious activities
under the threat of criminal punishment; (b) delendants violated plaintiff's clearly established
right to equal protection under the law and to be [ree {from discrimination on the basis ot his
religious beliefs under the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Conslitution; (¢) defendants
violated plaintiff's right under the S8ixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution to scek the
assistance of legal counsel, and plaintiff’s right under the First Amendment to the U.S
Constitution to associate and communicate with his legal counsel, and plaintiff*s right to due
process of law under the Fifth and Fourtcenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution; (d)
defendants, acting jointly, engaged and participated in and acted in furtherance of a
conspiracy to deprive plaintiff of his rights as stated in this Complaint in violation ol 42
11.8.C. § 1985(3); and (e) defendant Amy violated 42 1].5.C. § 1986 by failing to prevent the
violations of plaintiffs’ rights stated in this Complaint.

Award damages to plaintiff sufficient to compensale him for his pain and suffering, mental
anguish and emotional distress, embarrassment and humiliation, and loss of employment
opportunitics.

Issue an award to plaintiff of punitive damages against defendants lor their reckless

indifference to plaintiff’s rights as stated in this Complaint.

10
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D. Order that defendants pay plaintiff’s costs and attorneys fees pursuant to 42 U.8.C. § 1988;
and

E. Grant such other relicf that the court deems just and equitable.

" Bespectfully submitted, .
%\N\g’_
J

Andrew Nickelhoff (P37990)

Cooperating Attorney for the ACLU
Fund of Michigan

Sachs Waldman, PC

1000 Farmer Street

Dctroit, MI 48226

(313) 496-9429

e-mail: anickelhoffisachswaldman.com

Michael J. Steinberg

Kary I.. Moss

American Civil Libertics Union Fund
of Michigan

60 West Hancock Street

Detroit, MI 48201

(313) 578-6800, ext. 814

e-mail: mytembers@aclumich,ore

Gregory T. Gibbs (P2644)

Cooperating Altorney for the ACLU
Fund of Michigan

328 South Saginaw St.

Flint, M1 48502

(810) 239-9470

e-mail: pregeibbss | @sbegrlabal net

Glenn M. Simmington (P33626)

Cooperating Attorney for the ACLU
Fund of Michigan

1000 Mott Foundation Bldg.

Flint, MI 48502

(810) 232-3141

e-mail: gsimmington(@eeplawyers.com
Dated: January 23, 2006
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PURSUANT TO LOCAL RULE 83.11
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